



A PRACTICAL GUIDE TO
**THE CONFLICT OF
INTEREST LAW**
FOR MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES



A PRACTICAL GUIDE TO
**THE CONFLICT OF
INTEREST LAW**
FOR MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES

State Ethics Commission

Room 619
One Ashburton Place
Boston, MA 02108
(617) 727-0060

Executive Director

Peter Sturges

Written for the
State Ethics Commission
by Lee Regan &
Ardith Wieworka

Table of Contents

Preface	1
Introduction to the Conflict of Interest Law	2
Purpose of the Law	3
Who the Law Governs	3
Municipal Employees	3
"Special" Municipal Employees	3
Municipal Agencies	4
Regional "Municipal" Organizations	4
How the Conflict of Interest Law Affects Municipal Employees	5
Restrictions "On The Job"	6
Bribes	6
Gifts	6
Restrictions on Official Actions	7
Acting on Private Financial Interests	7
Acting on Competitors' Financial Interests	8
Acting on Matters Affecting Family (nepotism)	9
1. <i>Voting on family members' salaries</i>	9
2. <i>Appearances of favoritism</i>	10
Exemptions	10
Using the Rule of Necessity	12
Misuse of Official Position	13
Unwarranted privileges	13
"Appearances" of conflict	13
Inherently incompatible activities	14
Use of confidential information	14
Prohibited Appointments of Board Members	15
Demanding Undated Resignations Prohibited	15
Restrictions on Partners of Municipal Employees	15
Restrictions "After Hours"	16
Prohibited Municipal Contracts & Multiple Jobs	16
Application to employees & officials	16
Application to spouses	16
Exemptions	17
Limits on Private Activities	19
Application to Municipal Employees	19
Application to "Special" Municipal Employees	20
Exemptions	21
Restrictions After Leaving Government Service	22
Misuse of Government Connections	22
Application to Former Municipal Employees	22
1. <i>Forever Ban</i>	22
2. <i>One Year "Appearance" Ban</i>	22
Application to Partners of former municipal employees	23
Application to Former Town Counsel	23

Appendix	24
How to Obtain Legal Advice	25
Investigations	25
How to File a Complaint	25
Investigation Procedures	25
Penalties	26
Statute of Limitations	26
Public Education	27
Other Commissions or Agencies which oversee Ethical Conduct	28
 Glossary	 30

Preface

This Guide provides general guidance to town and city officials and employees on how to comply with the conflict of interest law. It is not meant to serve as formal advice or as a substitute for legal counsel.

If after reading this booklet you have questions about particular situations, you may call the State Ethics Commission and receive informal legal advice or you may request an advisory opinion from either the Ethics Commission or your town or city lawyer. The Ethics Commission urges municipal employees to take advantage of this opinion process. (See page 25 for information on how to obtain an advisory opinion.)

This Guide reviews the conflict of interest law in effect as of 1988. The conflict law may be amended from time to time by the state Legislature; be sure to consult the current version of the law or call the Commission's Legal Division at (617) 727-0060 for advice concerning the most recent application of the law.

INTRODUCTION TO THE CONFLICT OF INTEREST LAW

Purpose of the Law

The purpose of the conflict law is to ensure that public employees' private financial interests and personal relationships do not conflict with their public obligations. The law is broadly written to prevent a public employee from becoming involved in a situation which could result in a conflict or give the appearance of a conflict.

Who the Law Governs

Municipal Employees

The conflict law regulates the conduct of public officials and employees (referred to collectively in the law as "employees") at the state, county and municipal levels of government. The term "employee" at each level is defined expansively. You are considered a municipal employee if you hold any office, position, employment or membership in any municipal agency. It does not matter whether you are paid or unpaid or whether you serve full-time or part-time. People who work as consultants or on an intermittent basis are generally covered, as well. For example, unpaid members of local town or city boards or commissions are municipal employees, as are private citizens serving on a special advisory committee appointed by the mayor or board of selectmen to make recommendations on a specific issue. However, elected town meeting members or attendees at an open town meeting and members of a local charter commission are not considered "municipal employees" for purposes of the conflict of interest law.

The law restricts what a public employee may do:

1. on the job
2. after hours (or "on the side")
3. after leaving public service

"Special" Municipal Employees

"Special municipal employee" status may be assigned to certain municipal positions by a vote of the board of selectmen, board of aldermen or city council. Two sections of the conflict law apply less restrictively to special municipal employees. You are eligible to be designated as a special municipal employee provided that:

1. you are not paid; or
2. you hold a part-time position which allows you to work at another job during normal working hours; or
3. you were not paid by the city or town for more than 800 working hours (approximately 20 weeks full-time) during the preceding 365 days.

It is the municipal position which is designated as having special status, not the individual. Therefore, all employees holding the same office or position must have the same classification as special. For instance, one member of a school committee may not be classified as a special unless all members are similarly classified.

Selectmen in towns with a population of 10,000 or less are automatically special.

Selectmen in towns with a population of more than 10,000, city councillors, aldermen and mayors may *not* be designated special municipal employees.

Under no conditions may a mayor, alderman, city councillor or selectman in a town with a population of more than 5,000 be designated as a special. However, in towns of 5,000 or less, selectmen may designate themselves as special employees.

The state Legislature may designate certain employees to be special municipal employees. For example, members of local housing and redevelopment authorities are defined by law as special municipal employees. (See G.L. c. 121B, §7.)

Municipal Agencies

A municipal agency includes all departments, offices, councils, divisions, boards, bureaus, commissions, institutions or tribunals of city or town government. In other words, all entities established by the community, such as the council on aging, the historical commission, the licensing board and the town by-law committee, are municipal agencies under the conflict law.

Regional Organizations

The status of regional bodies such as regional school districts is not clearly defined in the conflict law. However, the State Ethics Commission has ruled that many of these regional organizations are "municipal agencies" for purposes of the law because these organizations provide services to the community which individual towns would traditionally provide.

Some of the regional organizations determined by the State Ethics Commission on a case by case basis to be municipal agencies are:

- Regional School Districts
- Local Water and Fire Districts
- Community Development Corporations
- Local Arts Lottery Councils
- Private Industry Councils

Certain regional bodies which are part of a state-wide organizational structure are not municipal agencies, but rather are considered state agencies. For example, regional transit authorities or regional mental health centers are considered state agencies for purposes of the conflict law.

HOW THE CONFLICT OF INTEREST LAW AFFECTS MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES

Restrictions “On The Job”

Bribes (Section 2)

The conflict law prohibits all public employees from seeking or receiving bribes, gifts, promises, or anything else of value in return for an official favor or a promise of action or inaction. In addition, the law prohibits public employees from accepting anything of value in exchange for committing any fraud on a state, county or municipal agency (or allowing anyone else to commit such a fraud). Finally, the law prohibits public employees from being influenced in giving testimony under oath or rendering themselves unavailable to testify. (The conflict law does not prohibit a public employee from receiving witness fees and other expenses allowed by law for testimony.)

A public employee violates Section 2 if the employee acts with a “corrupt intent.” As a general rule, whenever there is an agreement that a public official will receive something of value from a private party for certain official action (or inaction), that agreement is sufficient evidence that the public employee is acting with corrupt intent.

The bribery section of the conflict law also applies to private parties; *anyone* who bribes or attempts to bribe a public official violates the conflict law and faces criminal sanctions.

The item of value which is solicited or accepted need not be money. Trips, for example, or improvements to one’s home would be covered. The item of value need not be for the benefit of the public employee personally, but may be for the benefit of another person or an organization.

Example: The director of public works violates Section 2 by asking a contractor for a cash payment before he will approve the award of a town contract. The director also violates Section 2 if he demands a contribution to the mayor’s re-election campaign in return for approving the contract. The contractor would violate the law by offering a bribe to the director in exchange for his approval of the contract. ■

Gifts (Section 3)

It is illegal to request or accept anything of “substantial value” from anyone with whom you have or are likely to have official dealings (absent some family or social relationship which would explain the gift) even if the motivation for the gift is to express gratitude for a job well done or to foster goodwill.

It is also illegal for a *private party* to offer or give anything of substantial value to a public official or employee if it is given “for or because of” some act the official has performed or will perform; this is true even if there is no corrupt intent on the part of either the giver or the receiver.

In 1976 the Massachusetts Appeals Court decided that \$50 is “substantial value.” In 1985 the Commission issued a similar ruling. Items of “substantial value” range from cash, additional compensation and tips to free tickets and passes to entertainment events. In addition, free or discounted services such as construction or accounting work are considered gifts.

Example: A complaint is filed with the town public health department regarding a restaurant. An investigator screens the complaint and determines that no action should be taken on it. Grateful for this resolution of the matter, the restaurant owner invites the investigator and his family to a free dinner at his restaurant. If the investigator accepts the invitation, he violates Section 3 if the dinner is worth \$50 or more. If the same investigator had asked for the free dinner from the restaurant owner in return for agreeing not to act on the complaint, he would violate Section 2 (the bribery section of the law). ■

Example: A municipal purchasing agent awards several city office supply contracts to a stationery supplier who submits the lowest bids. At the end of the year, the general manager of the stationery firm offers the purchasing agent a set of luggage worth over \$50 as a token of goodwill. The purchasing agent violates Section 3 if he accepts the gift. The supplier violates Section 3 simply by making the offer of luggage to the purchasing agent. ■

Example: A car dealer which holds a major contract with the town police department offers a 40% discount to all town police officers. The car dealer violates Section 3 by offering the discount because it is being given only to town police officers who potentially could affect the car dealer's contract by praising or complaining about the cars' quality. The police officers will violate Section 3 if they take the discount and it totals \$50 or more. ■

For more detailed information on accepting or being offered "gifts," see Commission Advisory No. 8, the "Free Pass Advisory," available from the Commission's office.

Restrictions on Official Actions (Section 19)

Public employees must not act in their official capacities in matters in which they have a personal financial stake. The law also recognizes that the objectivity and integrity of municipal employees may be compromised if they act on matters affecting the financial interests of people or businesses with whom they are closely related.

Section 19 of the conflict law does not prevent municipal employees from having private financial interests or dealings in their town, but it does restrict what official actions, if any, they may take with respect to their private financial interests.

Acting on Private Financial Interests

To prevent public employees from using their positions to further private interests, the law prohibits municipal employees from participating in a "particular matter" in which they know that they personally, their immediate family or a business they are closely associated with has a financial interest. They are specifically prohibited from acting on matters affecting:

1. themselves
2. their "immediate family" (the employee and his or her spouse and their parents, children, brothers and sisters);
3. their partner;
4. a business organization in which they are serving as an officer, director, trustee, partner or employee (for example, if a municipal employee is an unpaid trustee of a private school she may not participate in a particular matter in which the school has a financial interest, even if she has no personal, direct financial interest herself); or
5. any person or organization with whom they are negotiating for or have any arrangement concerning future employment.

In summary, municipal employees may not act in their official position on any matter affecting the financial interest of themselves, their family or their businesses.

Example: An assessor in town wishes to apply for a tax abatement for his home. He may file the necessary papers and appear on his own behalf to argue for the abatement; however, in his official position as assessor, he may not discuss, recommend, analyze or decide whether to grant himself an abatement. ■

Example: The elected treasurer is on the board of directors of a local bank. She will violate the law if she takes any official action affecting the bank's financial interest such as investing the town's money in certificates of deposit with the bank. (See page 11 for information on a narrow exemption for treasurers making demand bank deposits.) ■

A municipal employee is prohibited from participating in a final decision affecting personal financial interests and also from participating in any of the steps along the way.

Finally, the "financial interest" at stake need not be present or immediate. Municipal employees may not participate in a matter if they have a "reasonably foreseeable" financial interest in that matter.

Example: A member of the zoning board of appeals is a developer. His corporation is negotiating to purchase a parcel of land in town. An application to rezone that land has been filed on behalf of the *current* owner. The zoning board member has a "financial interest" in the decision by his board whether to grant the zoning change because he may own the land in the foreseeable future. He would therefore be prohibited from participating in that board decision. ■

Acting on a Competitor's Financial Interest

The conflict law restricts municipal employees from taking any official action which would affect the financial interest of their business competitors. Such action will ultimately affect the employee's own financial interest. The employee may also not take official action on matters concerning the competitors of his or her immediate family, business or employer.

There is no one easy "rule" for local officials to rely upon when deciding who an official's competitors are in any particular instance. In an advisory opinion concerning a liquor license the Ethics Commission indicated that local authorities are often in a better position than the Commission to identify the local factors which would make a liquor license holder a competitor. In that opinion, we suggested that the appointed official rely on his appointing authority to make such a determination. Elected officials should seek guidance from town or city counsel or from the Commission when faced with a similar issue.

Example: A selectman who owns a restaurant in town may not vote to approve her own liquor license. If the selectman is part-owner and is not active in running the restaurant, she must still abstain from participating. The selectman is also prohibited from voting on any liquor license matter involving an establishment in competition with her restaurant. ■

Acting on Matters Affecting Family (Nepotism)

The conflict law prohibits a municipal official from participating in any particular matter affecting the financial interests of an "immediate family member." The purpose of the broad prohibition against acts of nepotism is to prevent potential conflicts or the appearance of favoritism which arise whenever a public official's personal loyalty to a family member competes with the need to make objective personnel decisions. "Immediate family member" is defined in the law as the employee and his or her spouse and their parents, children, brothers and sisters.

The following specific acts are prohibited:

1. hiring a family member;
2. *any* significant involvement in a hiring process in which a family member is an applicant, e.g., interviewing or creating a test for applicants;
3. *any* significant involvement in the reappointment, promotion, reclassification, demotion or firing of any family member;
4. determining a family member's salary (including approving "automatic" increases such as annual step increases);
5. conducting a job performance review of a family member;
6. day-to-day supervision of a family member;
7. delegating the task of dealing with an immediate family member to a subordinate.

1. Voting on Budgets Including Family Members' Salaries

In situations where a municipal official's immediate family member is employed by the same city or town, the official may not participate in any discussion or vote on any line item of a budget which would affect the family member's salary. The best course of action is simply to leave the room during the deliberation and vote of the board. The prohibition includes voting on a budget which will merely

maintain the salary of an immediate family member at its present level or approving "automatic" salary step increases in a budget. The prohibition applies even in cases where a number of other employees are given similar increases.

A 1976 Supreme Judicial Court decision **Graham v. McGrail** provided the following guidelines to allow public officials to vote on the budget's "bottom line" when faced with this conflict. The board must identify the budget line item which includes the family member's salary and vote on it separately. The official whose family member's salary is affected by this line item must abstain from the discussion and vote. After all such conflicts are dealt with through this line item procedure, the board may then vote on the budget as a whole package, with all members participating in the final vote to approve the "bottom line."

Example: A school committee member whose father works as a custodian for the school department must abstain from voting on the line item of the budget which includes his salary. She appropriately leaves the room during any deliberation and vote on this matter. She may vote on other line items in the school department budget. She may also participate in the final vote to approve the budget as a whole at the end of this process. ■

In addition, an exemption is available for *appointed* municipal employees which will allow them to act on a budget affecting an immediate family member's financial interest. They must receive permission to participate from the public official or board which appointed them to their job (the appointing official). This disclosure and authorization procedure is discussed on page 10.

2. *Appearances of favoritism*

Some relatives such as cousins, aunts and nephews are not “immediate family” members for purposes of the conflict law. However, a public official’s actions regarding these relatives may violate the Standards of Conduct (Section 23) of the conflict law.

Section 23 prohibits a public official from giving the impression that he or she can be improperly influenced by someone or that a relative could receive preferential treatment because of kinship. A public official must be careful to avoid this appearance of favoritism. The law states that an appointed public official will dispel this appearance by making a written disclosure to the official’s appointing authority. The law requires that the appointing authority keep the disclosure open to inspection by the public. For elected officials who have no appointing authority, the written public disclosure must be filed with the town or city clerk. In addition, officials would be well advised to make the disclosure a matter of record prior to acting at a public meeting by having the disclosure recorded in the meeting minutes.

In addition to avoiding the “appearance” of favoritism, a public official is, in fact, prohibited from engaging in favoritism. Under the Standards of Conduct, public officials are prohibited from using their positions to secure an unwarranted privilege of substantial value (\$50 or over) for anyone. Thus, if an elected official hired a nephew who was unqualified for the job — even if the official publicly disclosed the relationship — the official would violate the law because it would be an “unwarranted privilege” for the nephew to be paid for a job he could not adequately perform.

When *appointed* officials are faced with a nepotism conflict, the law provides an exemption procedure so that the officials may participate in the matter if they receive prior approval. (This is discussed under “Disclosure and Authorization Procedure” below.) However, *elected* officials may not take advantage of this procedure — they must always abstain from participating in a matter involving an immediate family member.

For more detailed information on exactly what constitutes a nepotism violation and what the Commission’s enforcement policy is regarding these violations, see Commission Advisory No. 11, available from the Commission’s office.

Exemptions 1 to 3

Exemption 1

Disclosure and Authorization Procedure

Appointed municipal employees may participate in a matter which affects their own, their immediate family’s or their business’ financial interest *only if* they receive permission from the public official who appointed them to their job. To receive the exemption, employees must first advise their appointing official of the nature and circumstances of the particular matter in which they want to participate and make full disclosure of the financial interest involved. The appointing official may then decide whether to allow the person to participate or to have someone else handle the matter. Any such determination must be in writing with a copy available for public inspection at the city or town clerk’s office.

This exemption is not available to *elected* municipal officials because they have no “appointing official.” They must always abstain from participating in matters involving their own, their immediate family members’ or their business’ financial interest.

Example: A local businessman has asked for a zoning variance so that he may garage the trucks from his contracting business in an area zoned for residential use. One member of the zoning board of appeals lives adjacent to the lot which is the subject of the application for the variance. Because of the effect such a variance would have on the value of the member's property, he has a financial interest in the zoning board's decision. As a result, Section 19 prohibits him from participating in that decision unless he receives a written exemption from his appointing official. If the zoning board member is elected, he must abstain from participating. ■

Example: The board of aldermen in a city must give final approval before a major condominium development may begin. One of the aldermen is a member of the board of directors of the development company seeking the approval. As a director of a business organization which has a financial interest in the board of aldermen's decision, this member is prohibited from participating in the decision. Because she is elected to her position as alderman, she has no appointing official and cannot take advantage of the "disclosure and authorization exemption" explained above. ■

Example: A part-time secretarial position is available in the town treasurer's office. The *elected* treasurer may not hire his sister to fill the position, even if she is more qualified than other candidates and has taken the appropriate civil service examination. An *appointed* treasurer, however, may disclose the situation to his appointing authority (the board of selectmen) and the board may then authorize the treasurer to make the hiring decision. The board of selectmen may also assign the hiring decision to someone else or handle it themselves. ■

Exemption 2

Determinations of General Policy

Certain decisions made by municipal officials affect either the municipality as a whole or a substantial segment of its population. The decision to raise water or sewer rates, for example, financially affects not only the water commissioner, but all town residents. A strict application of the conflict law in this circumstance would prohibit all town officials from participating in these decisions. This result would severely hinder the operation of a municipality. Therefore, Section 19 does not restrict one's participation in a particular matter if the issue involves a "determination of general policy" *and* the interest of the municipal employee or members of the employee's immediate family is shared with a substantial segment of the population of the municipality.

Exemption 3

Elected Official(s) Making Demand Bank Deposits

Section 19 allows an elected town or city official (e.g., the treasurer) to deposit municipal funds into a checking account in a bank with which the employee is affiliated *only if* the elected official first files with the clerk a statement making full disclosure that he or she is associated with the bank which has a financial interest in the deposits.

Example: The elected city treasurer is a member of the board of directors of a local bank. She opens and maintains a checking account in that bank with city money after filing a disclosure of her position on the board and the bank's interest in the deposit. She is not in violation of Section 19 because she has complied with the exemption. ■

Using the Rule of Necessity

If a member of a town or city board has a conflict of interest, that member will be disqualified from acting on that board matter. In some cases, especially when more than one member is disqualified, a board cannot act because it does not have a quorum. (If a number for a quorum is *not* set by law, a quorum is generally a majority of the board members.) In these instances, the board may use what is called a Rule of Necessity to permit the participation of the disqualified member in order to make a quorum to allow the board to act.

The Rule of Necessity is not a law written and passed by the Legislature. Rather, the Rule of Necessity was developed because judges applied it in their court decisions.

The Rule of Necessity works in the following way:

1. It can only be used if a board is *unable* to act on a matter because it cannot obtain a quorum because members are disqualified from acting.

Example: A five member board has a meeting and all members are present. Three of the five members have conflicts. A quorum is three. The two members without conflicts do not make a quorum. The board cannot act. The Rule of Necessity will permit all members to participate. ■

Example: A five member board has a meeting and four members are present (one member is sick at home). Two of the four present members have conflicts. A quorum is three. The one member who is sick at home does not have a conflict. The Rule of Necessity may not be used because there *is* a quorum of the board which is able to act. Because one member of that quorum is absent does not permit use of the Rule of Necessity. ■

Example: A five member board has a meeting and all members are present. One member has a conflict and is disqualified. The vote is a two to two tie. The Rule of Necessity may not be used to break the tie. In general, a tie vote defeats the issue being voted on. ■

2. The Rule of Necessity should be invoked by the chairman of the board, upon advice from town or city counsel. It is advisable for town or city counsel to set guidelines for exactly when and in what circumstances the Rule of Necessity should be invoked.
3. If it is proper for the Rule of Necessity to be used, it should be clearly indicated in the minutes of the meeting that the board was unable to obtain a quorum due to disqualification of members and, as a last resort, that those disqualified will now participate under the authority of the Rule of Necessity.
4. The Rule of Necessity may only be used as a last resort. Every effort must be made to find another board capable of acting in place of the board which could not obtain a quorum.

Misuse of Official Position

(Section 23)

Section 23, referred to in the law as the "Standards of Conduct," provides a general code of ethics for all public employees. The Standards of Conduct may apply whenever there is an overlap or direct connection between a public employee's official duties and responsibilities and his or her private activities, interests or relationships. This overlap of personal and public interests can at a minimum create an appearance of a conflict of interest.

A municipal agency or board may establish and enforce additional standards of conduct beyond those in the conflict law.

Unwarranted privileges

Municipal employees may not use or attempt to use their official positions to secure for themselves or others unwarranted privileges of substantial value. Substantial value has been set at \$50 by the courts and the Commission.

Example: A city employee submits a request for reimbursement for travel expenses he said that he incurred in attending a conference. The employee did, in fact, attend the conference, but did not incur the full expenses for which he seeks reimbursement. This conduct violates the conflict law since it is an attempt by the employee to use his official position to secure an unwarranted privilege of substantial value for himself. ■

Example: A full-time employee in the mayor's office uses the office computer after hours to set up a data base for his wife's accounting business. This violates the conflict law. Using city equipment and resources for personal business is using an official position to obtain an unwarranted privilege of substantial value not similarly available to others. ■

"Appearances" of conflict

Public employees must avoid conduct which creates a reasonable impression that they will act with bias.

A public official can dispel this impression of favoritism by disclosing all the facts which would lead to such a conclusion. For example, it may be necessary for a public official to disclose a personal relationship with someone appearing before his or her board.

Appointed officials must disclose in writing to their appointing authority. This disclosure must be kept available for public inspection. An elected official's public disclosure must be made in writing and filed with the city or town clerk. In addition, officials would be well advised to make a verbal disclosure for inclusion in meeting minutes if such an "appearance" of a conflict arises in a public meeting. These public disclosures must be made *prior* to any official participation or action.

Once this public disclosure has been made, the official may participate in the matter notwithstanding the "appearance of a conflict." When officials act on matters affecting individuals with whom they have a private relationship, they must act objectively and be careful not to use their official position to secure any unwarranted privilege or benefit for that person. Use of an official position to secure an unwarranted privilege for someone is always prohibited, regardless of whether the disclosure procedure is followed.

Example: An elected planning board member participates in the planning board's consideration of a subdivision plan submitted by a contractor who built the planning board member's house. His participation in the planning board's consideration would create a reasonable basis for the impression that the contractor could unduly enjoy his favor in the performance of his official duties. To dispel this appearance of bias, the planning board member must disclose in writing his private relationship with the contractor and file the disclosure

with the town clerk. He may then vote on the subdivision plan (provided he can do so objectively). ■

Example: The longtime friend of the chief of the town's highway department applies for a job in the highway department. If the chief gets involved in the hiring process, it may appear as though his friend could enjoy undue favoritism. To dispel the appearance of favoritism, the highway department chief must disclose his private relationship with the job applicant in writing to his appointing official (the board of selectmen) prior to any action. This disclosure must be available for public inspection. It is then within the authority of the board of selectmen to determine whether any further steps need to be taken to avoid the appearance of a conflict. ■

Inherently incompatible activities

A municipal employee is prohibited from accepting other employment involving compensation of substantial value (\$50 or more), the responsibilities of which are inherently incompatible with the responsibilities of his public office. For example, in a 1984 enforcement case, a state mediator admitted he violated the conflict law by working privately for a union when he was involved in mediating a labor dispute with the same union.

Use of confidential information

No current or former officer or employee of a municipal agency may:

1. accept employment or engage in any business or professional activity which will require the employee to disclose confidential information gained by reason of the employee's official position or authority; or
2. improperly disclose material or data which are not considered public records and which are acquired in the course of official duties nor use such information to further personal interests.

Example: A former employee of the town personnel office sets up her own employment placement service and uses confidential information from the town's personnel records to prepare a client list for use in her private business. This violates Section 23 because she would be using confidential information acquired in the course of official duties to further personal interests, and also because she would be using her official position to secure for herself an unwarranted privilege not properly available to similarly situated individuals (i.e., other placement services). ■

Prohibited Appointments of Board and Commission Members (Section 21A)

The conflict law prohibits town or city board members from being *eligible* for appointment or election to any position under the supervision of their own board. This prohibition continues for thirty days from the member's termination of service on the board.

Only if town meeting approves, may a board member be appointed to a position under the supervision of the member's own board. Even if town meeting approves the appointment, Section 20 (discussed on page 16) may place restrictions on or prohibit the appointment.

Municipal officials considering applying for a paid position under the supervision of their own board should be aware that they may not participate as board members in discussions and/or votes concerning their appointment.

Example: A member of the board of assessors may not apply for and obtain a job in the assessor's office without town meeting's approval. If he resigns his membership on the board, he cannot apply for a job in the assessor's office for 30 days. He also is prohibited from being hired while a board member but technically not accepting the job for 30 days. ■

Demanding Undated Resignations Prohibited (Section 21B)

The conflict law prohibits the mayor, city manager or town manager from requiring anyone, as a prerequisite to appointment to a municipal position, to submit an undated resignation. This prohibition prevents the chief executive officer of a municipality from using a municipal employee's undated resignation to exert unfair leverage over the employee and from dismissing an employee without the need for public explanation.

Restrictions on Partners of Municipal Employees (Section 18)

The law prohibits partners of municipal employees from deriving an unfair advantage as a result of their association with the municipal employee. Therefore, the partner of a municipal employee may not act as agent or attorney for a private party before the city or town in connection with a matter in which the municipal employee has ever participated or over which the employee has official responsibility.

Municipal employees are also prohibited from shifting to their partners what they themselves are prohibited from doing.

Example: A member of the planning board is a partner in a law firm. As a board member he has official responsibility for approving development plans. His law partners may not represent anyone other than the town before the board in connection with such an application. It does not matter if the board member takes no action on the application or disqualifies himself from that proceeding. ■

Restrictions “After Hours”

Prohibited Municipal Contracts and Multiple Jobs (Section 20)

Application to Employees & Officials

In general, municipal employees are prohibited from having a direct or indirect financial interest in a “contract” with a municipal agency. Contracts include agreements to provide goods and services. Employment also constitutes a contract with the municipality. Therefore, generally, municipal employees are prohibited from holding more than one paid position or contracting with the same city or town. (However, the courts have said that election to public office is not a contractual relationship; therefore, municipal officials may hold any number of elected paid positions and not be in conflict.)

These restrictions will avoid any public perception that municipal employees have an “inside track” on getting municipal contracts and jobs.

Example: A full-time employee of the school department is half owner of a business which provides transportation for the handicapped. The employee will violate Section 20 if his business enters into a contract with the school department to transport handicapped students to and from school. ■

Example: The town assessor works for a large data processing firm. The town’s assessing department has asked her firm to computerize the town’s assessment records. They enter into a contract to do so. The town assessor may continue to work for her firm, but she would be prohibited under Section 20 from working for the firm on the town assessment records project or from receiving any financial benefit from that contract. ■

Example: A full-time police officer working nights may not take another full-time paid municipal job during the day. ■

Municipal employees may qualify for one of the exemptions under Section 20 to allow them to contract or hold multiple positions with the town or city for which they work. A municipal employee must fulfill certain specific conditions before receiving an exemption. (See exemptions 1 through 9, starting on the following page.)

Note: Section 20 is the most complex section of the conflict law; we suggest you call the Commission or contact your city solicitor or town counsel for specific advice on Section 20.

Application to Spouses

A spouse’s financial interest in a municipal contract is not necessarily attributed to the municipal employee. Therefore, if the spouse has a financial interest in a municipal contract this does not automatically place the municipal employee in violation of the law. However, a municipal employee will not avoid violating Section 20 merely by having the contract “technically” in a spouse’s name while continuing to share in the contract proceeds.

Example: An employee of the police department (Jane) is married to the owner of an electronics store (Bob). Bob has a contract selling and leasing radio equipment to the police department. Jane does not, by law, have a financial interest in Bob’s contracts simply because she is married to him. Therefore, Bob may have a contract with the town. However, if Jane were a partner or part-owner in her husband’s store or if she exercised control over the management of the store, she would have a financial interest in the contracts. Her financial interest would prohibit the electronics store from contracting with the police department. ■

Exemptions 1 through 9

There will be very few instances when employees will be able to contract or hold second jobs with their *own* agency. However, there will be instances where employees are allowed to contract or hold second jobs with *other* agencies.

Exemption 1.

The most comprehensive exemption is found in Section 20(b). It states that if you are a municipal employee, you may have a contract with a municipal agency *if*:

1. you do not work for the contracting agency;
2. you do not work for any agency which regulates the activities of the contracting agency;
3. you do not participate in or have official responsibility for the activities of the contracting agency;
4. the contract is made after public notice or competitive bidding; and
5. you file with the clerk a disclosure of your and your immediate family's financial interest in the contract.

Example: A full-time employee of the public works department owns a company which produces electrical equipment. He may sell lighting fixtures to the school department provided the contract is competitively bid or publicly advertised and he makes the necessary disclosure to the town clerk. However, if he worked for the school department (the contracting agency) or if the contract were not awarded after advertising or competitive bidding, he would violate the law by having such a contract. ■

Example: A full-time employee of the purchasing department owns 25 percent of the stock in a cleaning supply company. If the purchasing department approves every purchase and contract made by every town agency, the employee will violate Section 20 if his corporation enters into a contract with any

agency of the town to provide cleaning supplies. This violates the law because the full-time employee of the purchasing department is employed by an agency "which regulates the activities of the contracting agency." ■

If the contract is for personal services (i.e., a second job) *in addition*, you must fulfill the following criteria:

1. the services must be provided outside the normal working hours of your primary job;
2. the services may not be required as part of your regular duties;
3. you may not be compensated for the second job for more than 500 hours in a calendar year;
4. the head of the contracting agency must file a written certification with the clerk that no employee of the contracting agency is available to perform those services as a part of his or her regular duties.

Example: A full-time secretary in the town clerk's office may contract with the licensing board to provide typing services, provided he does the work on his own time (e.g., nights or weekends); he does not bill the board for more than 500 hours in any one calendar year; he makes the necessary disclosure to the clerk; the board gives members of the general public the opportunity to seek the contract; and the head of the licensing board certifies that no one at the board is available to do the work. ■

Exemption 2.

Special municipal employees may have a contract or a second job with the same city or town if the employee meets *one* of the following conditions:

1. the special municipal employee does not participate in or have official responsibility for any of the activities of the contracting agency, and files with the city or town clerk a statement disclosing the financial interest in the contract; or
2. the special municipal employee has filed with the city or town clerk a statement disclosing the interest in the contract *and* the

city council, board of selectmen or board of aldermen has approved his or her exemption from this section. This means that if a special municipal employee gets formal approval, that employee may have a financial interest in a contract with the agency he or she works for, e.g., a school committee member contracting with the school department.

Example: An engineer works part-time for the city's conservation commission and has been classified a special municipal employee. As a special, she may have a consulting contract with the highway department regarding road construction *if* she has filed with the city clerk a disclosure of her interest in the consulting contract. In addition, if she receives approval from the board of selectmen and files a disclosure statement, she may contract with the conservation commission (her own agency). ■

Exemption 3.

Section 20 does not prohibit municipal employees from receiving benefits from programs funded by the United States or any other source in connection with the rental, improvement, or rehabilitation of their residence.

Example: A municipal employee who owns and resides in a home which qualifies for federal subsidies for home weatherization may obtain such a subsidy, even though the program is administered by, and the funds distributed by, a municipal agency of the same town in which she is employed. ■

Exemption 4.

Section 20 does not prohibit a municipal employee from being eligible for a housing subsidy program administered by a local housing authority. However, the housing authority employee who has responsibility for the administration of the subsidy program may not be eligible for a subsidy.

Exemption 5.

Section 20 does not prohibit an individual who is already a municipal employee from also serving as selectman (or as councillor in a municipality with a town council form of government) in the same town as long as the selectman:

1. does not vote or act as selectman on any matter which is within the authority of the agency which employs the selectman or over which he or she has official responsibility (for example, a policeman who is elected as selectman may not vote on any matter which comes under the police department's authority); and
2. receives compensation for only one office or position in the town (individuals may choose which pay they wish to receive).

A selectman who does not hold a municipal position before being elected may not be appointed to a municipal position afterwards. In fact, once one's term as selectman expires or one resigns, there is a six month waiting period before being eligible to be appointed to a municipal position. However, a selectman may be routinely reappointed to a previously held position.

Example: A school teacher may serve as elected selectman so long as she does not vote or act on any matter which is within the authority of the school department, and she receives only one salary. Her original municipal teaching contract may be renewed. However, she is not eligible for promotion to the position of principal (considered a new appointment) while she is a selectman, or for six months after her term as selectman ends. After a selectman is elected, she may not be appointed to any new municipal position (e.g., be hired as a teacher) during her term as selectman or for six months after her term ends. ■

Note: Selectmen designated as specials in towns with a population of under 5,000 may hold additional paid town positions if they meet the requirements detailed in Exemption 2 (page 17).

Exemption 6.

Section 20 does not prohibit an employee of a housing authority from serving in any elected position, except mayor, as long as the person:

1. does not vote or act on any matter within the purview of the housing authority; and
2. receives compensation for only one office or position in the municipality (individuals may choose which pay they wish to receive)

A city councillor, alderman or other elected official who did not work for a housing authority before being elected may not be appointed to a job in the housing authority afterward. In fact, once one's elected term expires or one resigns, there is a six month waiting period before being eligible to be appointed to such a position.

Exemption 7.

A state employee may hold a paid or unpaid elected or appointed office in a city or town. However, in the municipal position, an employee may not vote or act on any matter which comes under the authority of the state agency the employee works for or over which the employee has official responsibility. This exemption is found under Section 4 of the conflict law.

Example: A full-time employee of the State Department of Public Health (DPH) may not serve as a municipal health agent because every matter which he would be acting on as health agent would be within the purview of DPH. The DPH employee may serve as selectman but may not, as selectman, vote or act on any matter under the authority of DPH. ■

Exemption 8.

A clerk of a city or town may hold additional municipal positions for compensation as long as this arrangement is not disapproved of by the selectmen, town meeting, town counsel (in a town) or mayor and city council (in a city). (See G.L. c. 41, §19I).

Exemption 9.

A municipal employee in a town with a population of less than 3,500 may hold more than one paid appointed position if the board of selectmen formally approve the additional appointments. The employees do not need to be designated as specials in communities with a population of less than 3,500.

Limits on Private Activities (Section 17)

Application to Municipal Employees

Section 17 limits what a municipal employee may do "on the side" for someone other than the city or town which the employee works for. A person cannot serve two masters; whenever an employee works for private interests in matters in which the city or town also has an interest, there is a potential for divided loyalties at the expense of the municipality. Therefore, Section 17 prohibits any municipal employee from:

1. acting as agent or attorney for a private party before city or town boards, or
2. being paid by a private party in relation to any "particular matter of direct and substantial interest" to the city or town. (See Glossary)

The term attorney applies to lawyers and may also include any person exercising a power of attorney. The term agent refers to anybody acting in a representative capacity on behalf of someone else, regardless of whether the person is a lawyer.

Section 17 also prohibits anyone from giving, promising or offering such compensation to a municipal employee.

With respect to this section, you should note at the outset:

1. Not all outside activity is prohibited, only outside activity which relates to particular matters of direct and substantial interest to the city or town. This outside activity is prohibited whether or not it benefits or is adverse to the city or town's interest.
2. The restriction applies as long as *any* municipal agency has a direct and substantial interest in the matter; it makes no difference whether the employee's own agency has the interest.
3. "Anyone other than the city or town or a municipal agency" includes private individuals or organizations, as well as other levels of government (state, county or federal).
4. Compensation includes not only money but also anything of value received for services rendered. For example, the opportunity to participate in an investment qualifies as compensation as would various fringe benefits. Reimbursements for expenses are not compensation.
5. Finally, when a municipal employee acts as agent or attorney for someone other than the city or town in connection with a particular matter of direct and substantial interest to the city or town, the employee violates Section 17 even if the services are unpaid.

Example: A full-time city engineer may not be paid by a developer to help prepare plans for a private development which will be presented to the city's planning board for approval. Although the city engineer does not work for the planning board, Section 17 would prevent him from performing such services, even on his own time. ■

Example: A municipal employee serves in his off-duty hours as an unpaid trustee of a church in his town. The church and the town are negotiating a land exchange. If the employee represents the church in discussions with the town on this matter (the land

exchange), he is acting as agent for the church in connection with a particular matter in which the town is a party. This is prohibited. ■

Application to Special Municipal Employees

The conflict law imposes fewer restrictions on special municipal employees. Section 17 applies to special municipal employees only when there is a connection between the special municipal employee's outside activity and the employee's agency's work.

A special municipal employee may receive compensation from, or act as an agent or attorney for, someone other than the city or town *unless* the particular matter involved is one:

1. in which he or she participated at any time as a municipal employee or special municipal employee;
2. which is or has been (within the preceding year) the subject of the employee's official responsibility; or
3. which is pending in the municipal agency in which the employee is serving — if the employee serves more than 60 days in any 365 day period. To serve more than 60 days means to perform work on more than 60 days; work on any part of a day will be considered work for one full day. The employee is responsible for keeping accurate records in this regard.

Example: A computer programmer is hired by the city's school department as a part-time consultant. By virtue of this city consulting job, the programmer is a municipal employee; the city council has designated this position as a "special" position. A computer company which has a contract with the city's personnel office offers a job to the programmer to work on this contract. The programmer may work for the company because the contract with the personnel office is not a particular matter she participates in or has official responsibility for (in her school department position) and the matter is not pending in the school department for any type of action. ■

Example: A nurse consults with a town board of health (BOH) for 45 days spread out over a year; her position has been designated as a special municipal employee position. Her work relates exclusively to the BOH lead-paint program. The nurse may also represent a community health center in a funding application before BOH because she does not have official responsibility for or participate in BOH funding decisions and she worked less than 60 days for BOH during the previous year. ■

Exemptions 1 through 5

Exemption 1.

If a municipal employee's job responsibilities require the employee to represent interests other than the municipality's, the employee does not violate Section 17. It is rare, however, that municipal employees are expected to represent outside interests before the town.

Example: The tenant representative on a local rent control board may act as spokesperson for tenant groups as part of his official duties. This would not violate the conflict law even though he is acting as their "agent." ■

Exemption 2.

A municipal employee may provide unpaid assistance to someone who is subject to employment discipline or other municipal personnel proceedings.

Exemption 3.

Appointed municipal employees may represent members of their immediate family or any person for whom the employees serve as a guardian, executor, administrator or other fiduciary before a town board or agency, so long as the employees do not participate in, and do not have responsibility over the matter involved. An employee's appointing authority must approve the arrangement in writing prior to any action.

Elected municipal officials may represent only themselves before town boards; they may not represent members of their immediate family.

Example: An elected or appointed zoning board of appeals member may personally seek a variance from the zoning board to build a garage next to his house. An appointed ZBA member may represent his father before the ZBA on a variance request, provided he receives permission from his appointing authority (i.e., the board of selectmen). An elected ZBA member may not represent his father under any circumstances. The ZBA member may not participate as a board member in the decision regarding his own or his father's petition. ■

Exemption 4.

A present or former *special* municipal employee may assist another person for compensation in working on a municipal contract, so long as the head of his or her agency certifies in writing that "the interest of the city or town requires such aid or assistance," and the certification has been filed with the city or town clerk.

Exemption 5.

A municipal employee may give testimony under oath or sworn statements and receive witness fees from one other than the city.

Restrictions After You Leave Government Service

Misuse of Government Connections (Section 18)

Former municipal employees may not use their past friendships and associations within government, or use confidential information obtained while serving the government, to derive unfair advantages for themselves or others. The law does not prohibit a municipal employee from using general expertise which he or she developed while a municipal employee; rather, the law limits what actions a former city employee may take regarding individual decisions or other "particular matters" in which the employee actually participated or over which he or she had official responsibility while a municipal employee. (The prohibition against using confidential information is contained in Section 23, page 14.)

The law also applies to the business partners of former municipal employees. Former municipal employees may not shift to their partners what they themselves are prohibited from doing. In addition, the law prohibits partners from deriving an unfair advantage as a result of their association with a former municipal employee.

Application to Former Municipal Employees

1. Forever Ban

If a municipal employee participated in a "particular matter" as a municipal employee he or she may *never* become involved in that same matter after leaving municipal service except on behalf of the city or town.

Specifically, the law states that a former municipal employee may not act as agent or attorney for, or receive compensation directly or indirectly from, anyone other than the municipality in connection with any particular matter in which the municipality is a party or has a direct and substantial interest *and* in which he or she participated as a municipal employee.

Example: A member of the zoning board of appeals votes to deny a special zoning permit to a person who wants to put a second floor on a convenience store in violation of height restrictions. After his term on the board expires the board member who is a lawyer is asked to represent the store owner in a suit against the board challenging its permit denial. Because he participated as a board member in the permit denial, he may not act as the attorney in the lawsuit. ■

Example: The superintendent of a municipal public works department selects a contractor to do sewer reconstruction work in the town. Shortly afterward, he resigns his superintendent position and is hired by the contractor to act as foreman on the work under the town sewer contract. The law prohibits him from accepting this employment because he participated in the award of that contract while a municipal employee. However, the superintendent may work for the contractor on other jobs in which he did not participate as a municipal employee. The superintendent may also, in the future, work on a town contract he had no responsibility for and did not participate in as a municipal employee. ■

2. One Year "Appearance" Ban

The law also restricts the actions of a town or city employee who had official responsibility for a matter even though the employee did not personally participate in it. After an official leaves municipal service, for one year, he or she may not appear before any municipal agency on behalf of a private party if:

1. the appearance is in connection with a particular matter in which the municipality has a direct and substantial interest; *and*
2. the matter was within the employee's official responsibility within the two-year period before leaving municipal service. Note that this prohibition lasts for only one year, and restricts only appearances (whether paid or unpaid) before municipal agencies.

Example: The chairman of a local liquor licensing board had official responsibility over all license applications submitted to the board. For one year after leaving the board, the member may not appear on behalf of an applicant for a liquor license if that application was before the board at any time during the last two years of his service. This prohibition exists even if the member personally took no action on the case. If he had taken some action he may never represent the applicant on that particular application. He may, however, represent the applicant on a new liquor license application. ■

Example: An employee of a city's building department is assigned by his supervisor to inspect a newly-constructed building for local building code violations. The law prohibits that employee from ever being paid by the building's owner in relation to that inspection, e.g., to perform required repairs. Although the supervisor does not personally make the inspection, for one year after she leaves municipal service she is prohibited from appearing on behalf of the building owner before a municipal agency in connection with the inspection. ■

Application to Business Partners of Former Municipal Employees

The partner of a *former* municipal employee is restricted for one year after the former municipal employee leaves municipal service from personally representing or being paid by a private party in connection with a matter that the former municipal employee participated in as a public employee.

Example: A member of the planning board is a partner in a law firm. When the planning board member's term expires, she is forever prohibited from representing private clients in connection with applications in which she had actually participated as a board member. Her partners may not, for one year after the planning board member leaves the board, represent anyone (except the town) in connection with matters in which the former board member participated. ■

Example: Three contractors do not have a formal partnership agreement, but share office space, common expenses and advertising and work together and share profits on some projects. Because they would reasonably appear to be partners to an outsider, the three contractors will be treated as partners for purposes of the conflict law. Accordingly, if one of the contractors is a former municipal employee, the other two will be prohibited for one year after the municipal employee/partner leaves municipal service from working on any matter in which the former municipal employee participated while serving town government. ■

If a partner of a former municipal employee is also a member of another partnership in which the former employee has no interest, there are no restrictions on the activities of the latter partnership.

Example: A former member of the board of assessors may not be compensated by anyone other than the town in connection with any assessment decisions in which he participated. The former board member is in a real estate partnership. His partner, Jones, is also a partner in a law firm. The law firm may represent a client challenging an assessment made by the former board member so long as Jones takes no part in the law firm's activities challenging the assessment. ■

Application to Former Town Counsel

A former town counsel who was paid less than \$2,000 per year on a salary or retainer may not represent a private party before any municipal agency *only* in connection with particular matters in which he participated as a municipal lawyer. These former town and city lawyers may appear before municipal agencies regarding particular matters over which they had official responsibility but did not personally participate.

Former town counsels who were paid more than \$2,000 a year must abide by the same restrictions outlined on page 22 for former municipal employees.

APPENDIX

How to Obtain Legal Advice

You may call the State Ethics Commission's Legal Division at (617) 727-0060 for informal, confidential advice on the conflict law, or you may seek a written advisory opinion from your city solicitor or town counsel or from the Ethics Commission. If you have a question about your own activities, we urge you to request an opinion *prior* to engaging in the activity in question. Requests to the Commission for an advisory opinion must be in writing and must be about a real, not hypothetical, situation which presents a problem under the conflict of interest law.

Investigations

How to File a Complaint

Anyone can file a complaint concerning a conflict of interest — in person, over the phone or by letter. The law requires the Ethics Commission to keep the identity of all complainants confidential and the Commission's enabling statute (M.G.L. c. 268B, §8) protects a complainant from retribution for filing a complaint with the Commission.

The Commission can initiate investigations based on these complaints, on referrals from other civil and criminal enforcement agencies or on its own based on information obtained through other sources, such as news reports.

If you believe that a violation of the conflict of interest law has occurred or is occurring, you may call or visit the State Ethics Commission office at Room 619, One Ashburton Place, Boston, (617) 727-0060, and speak with a member of the Commission's enforcement staff.

Investigation Procedures

The Enforcement Division reviews each complaint received. If the complaint falls within the Commission's jurisdiction, an initial "screening" is done to determine if the facts warrant a formal investigation. The screening is an informal fact gathering stage. Many enforcement cases end confidentially at the conclusion of the screening with a private educational letter sent to the subject of the investigation. In these cases, no formal charge of a violation is brought and the matter remains confidential.

After the screening, if the staff determines a case should be formally investigated, authorization is sought from the appointed Commissioners to conduct a Preliminary Inquiry. During this formal investigation the Commission staff has subpoena powers for testimony under oath.

After the investigation is conducted, the Commissioners vote on whether "reasonable cause" exists to believe that the law has been violated. If the Commissioners find "reasonable cause," the subject of the complaint is entitled to a public hearing before the Commission to present evidence and testimony on his or her own behalf. At the conclusion of a public hearing the Commissioners issue a Decision and Order stating whether there was a violation of the conflict law and what fine, if any, will be assessed. A person has the right to appeal the Commission's decision directly to Superior Court. In the alternative, the person may settle the case by admitting publicly that he or she violated the law and agreeing to pay a civil penalty for each violation.

If the Commission finds "no reasonable cause" to believe the law has been violated, the case is closed and records and proceedings of the investigation remain confidential.

Penalties

The Commission is authorized to impose civil fines of up to \$2,000 per violation of the conflict law. In addition, the Commission may bring a civil action against individuals who have acted to their economic advantage in violation of the law, and may recover on behalf of the commonwealth or a municipality, damages in the amount of the economic advantage or \$500, whichever is greater. In certain circumstances, the Commission may also recover multiple damages.

Further, any violation which has substantially influenced an action taken by a municipal agency is grounds to avoid, rescind or cancel that action. For example, if a zoning board approved a variance to allow a hotel to be built and one of the members was in conflict when he voted, the approval of the variance could be rescinded.

The conflict law also carries criminal penalties including fines and terms of imprisonment. Criminal prosecutions under the law are the responsibility of the Attorney General and District Attorneys. The Ethics Commission has the authority to refer cases to or concurrently investigate cases with these other law enforcement agencies.

Statute of Limitations

In general, the Ethics Commission will review cases which are not more than six years old. The Commission has established rules governing the Statute of Limitations. These rules state that the Statute of Limitations begins on the date that the Ethics Commission (or another law enforcement agency, such as the District Attorney) learns about an alleged violation of the conflict law. This is usually the date when someone makes a complaint. The Ethics Commission has three years from the date it learns of an alleged violation to issue an Order to Show Cause which starts public proceedings against an individual.

An Order to Show Cause may not be issued more than six years after the alleged violation occurred. Therefore, if a municipal official violated the law in 1980, if the Ethics Commission did not learn of the violation until 1988, the Commission could not take any action against the official.

Public Education

Public education has been a primary commitment of the State Ethics Commission since its establishment in 1978.

The Public Education Division conducts seminars for municipal employees and officials to help avoid potential conflicts which may arise between an employee's private interests and public position. The Commission staff will travel anywhere in the state to conduct a seminar tailored to any group of public employees or citizens.

The goal of the presentation and question and answer period is to provide an understanding of the basic principles of the law and how to comply with it by discussing "real life" conflicts that arise on the job.

Some of the topics covered at our seminars include: restrictions on receiving gifts, outside employment, contracting with municipal agencies, acting on matters which financially affect family members and business associates, holding more than one town job, and leaving the government to work for companies you dealt with as a public employee.

To arrange for a seminar on the conflict law, call (617) 727-0060 and ask for the Director of Public Education.

The Public Education Division also provides other publications free of charge or for a nominal fee including: the Commission's newsletter, *The Bulletin*; pamphlets for state, county and municipal employees on the conflict of interest and financial disclosure laws; a yearly compilation of Enforcement Actions and Advisory Opinions; an Annual Report and advisories and fact sheets which provide specific guidance to public officials on various aspects of the conflict law.

Commissions or Agencies Which Oversee Ethical Conduct

The following is a list of agencies which oversee the ethical conduct of public employees, including judges and legislators, as well as private sector lawyers. These agencies are responsible for interpreting and/or enforcing the statutes and regulations which are noted.

Massachusetts Municipal, County and State Employees:

State Ethics Commission
One Ashburton Place
Room 619
Boston, MA 02108
(617) 727-0060

M.G.L. c. 268A and c. 268B.

Federal Employees:

Federal agencies have a designated "ethics in government officer" who handles questions and refers complaints to the appropriate law enforcement agency concerning the federal conflict of interest statute. You may also contact the Inspector General's office within each federal agency for advice and information. In addition, the Office of Government Ethics (202-632-7642) will handle questions of a general nature.

Federal employees are covered by:

1. The Ethics in Government Act of 1978, Public Law 95-521.
2. Executive Order 11222 issued 5/21/65 (Standards of Ethical Conduct for Executive Agency Personnel).
3. Code of Federal Regulations
5 CFR 735.101 to 735.306 (Regulations promulgated by the Office of Government Ethics).

Judges:

Commission on Judicial Conduct
14 Beacon Street
Suite 102
Boston, MA 02108
(617) 725-8050

(Rule 3:09 of the Rules of the Supreme Judicial Court Code of Judicial Conduct.)

Judges, as state employees, are also covered by the conflict of interest law enforced by the State Ethics Commission.

Legislators:

House Ethics Committee
State House, Room 163
Boston, MA 02133
(617) 722-2040

House Rules 16 and 16A.

Senate Ethics Committee
State House, Room 517
Boston, MA 02133
(617) 722-1544

Senate Rules 10, 10A, and 12A.

Legislators, as state employees, are also covered by the conflict of interest law enforced by the State Ethics Commission.

Private Sector Lawyers:

Massachusetts Board of Bar Overseers
11 Beacon Street
Boston, MA 02108
(617) 720-0700

Rule 3:01 of the Rules of the Supreme Judicial Court.

For information on:**Campaign and Fundraising Activities**

Office of Campaign & Political Finance
One Ashburton Place
Room 1005
Boston, MA 02108
(617) 727-8352

M.G.L. c. 55.

Open Meeting Law

Contact your local District Attorney's Office.

*M.G.L. c. 30A §§11A, 11A 1/2, 11B and 11C;
c. 34 §9; c. 39 §§23A, 23B and 23C.*

Public Records

Public Records Division
Secretary of State's Office
Room 1701
One Ashburton Place
Boston, MA 02108
(617) 727-2832

M.G.L. c. 4, §7 cl.37.

GLOSSARY

This Glossary contains the definitions of those terms which are defined in the conflict law. They are designated with an asterisk.* In addition, we have given the ordinary meaning of terms used in this Guide which the conflict law does not specifically define.

Agent: anybody acting in a representative capacity on behalf of someone else, regardless of whether the person is a lawyer.

Attorney: a lawyer; any person exercising a power of attorney.

Business Organization: business companies and agencies such as sole proprietorships, corporations, partnerships, and trusts; also includes non-profit corporations, associations and municipalities.

Compensation: any money, thing of value or economic benefit conferred on or received by any person or entity in return for services rendered or to be rendered by himself or another.

Competitive bidding: all bidding, where the same may be prescribed by applicable sections of the General Laws or otherwise, given and tendered to a state, county or municipal agency in response to an open solicitation of bids from the general public by public announcement or public advertising, where the contract is awarded to the lowest responsible bidder.

Contract: any type of agreement or arrangement between two or more parties where each undertakes certain obligations in consideration of the promises made by the other(s); for example, construction or consulting contracts, employment arrangements, contracts for the sale of goods or to provide services, grants awarded by the city or town to individuals or corporations, and agreements between a municipal agency and a state agency.

***Immediate family:** the employee and his spouse, and their parents, children, brothers and sisters.

Note: Cousins, nephews, aunts, uncles, etc. are *not* considered immediate family members. Also, under the definition of immediate family, some brothers-in-law are immediate family, others are not; if your brother-in-law is your spouse's brother — he is immediate family *but* if he is your sister's husband, he is not immediate family for purposes of the conflict law.

***Municipal agency:** any department or office of a city or town government and any council, division, board, bureau, commission, institution, tribunal or other instrumentality thereof or thereunder.

***Municipal employee:** a person performing services for or holding an office, position, employment or membership in a municipal agency, whether by election, appointment, contract of hire or engagement, whether serving with or without compensation, on a full, regular, part-time, intermittent, or consultant basis, but excluding (1) elected members of a town meeting and (2) members of a charter commission established under Article LXXXIX of the Amendments to the Constitution.

***Official act:** any decision or action in a particular matter or in the enactment of legislation.

***Official Responsibility:** the direct administrative or operating authority, whether intermediate or final, and either exercisable alone or with others, and whether personal or through subordinates, to approve, disapprove or otherwise direct agency action.

Note: Many special municipal employees, including most consultants, have responsibility over only the specific project for which they were hired. On the other hand, members of boards or commissions are often special municipal employees but will normally have "official responsibility" for every matter which is pending in their agency.

***Participate:** participate in agency action or in a particular matter personally and substantially as a state, county or municipal employee, through approval, disapproval, decision, recommendation, the rendering of advice, investigation or otherwise.

***Particular matter:** any judicial or other proceeding, application, submission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, controversy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding, but *excluding* 1. enactment of general legislation by the general court, and 2. petitions of cities, towns, counties and districts for special laws related to their governmental organizations, powers, duties, finances and property.

While the enactment of general legislation is not included in the definition of particular matter, the term does cover enactment of special legislation. Special laws are those directed at a specific situation or individual or entity — for example, a law exempting a specifically identified parcel of land from local zoning restrictions. General laws, in contrast, usually establish a rule of future conduct applicable on a wider scale of people or things and apply uniformly to all individuals similarly situated.

Particular matter of direct and substantial interest to a city or town includes: 1) All particular matters which affect the financial interests of the city or town — for example, contracts, grants and determinations of local tax liability (e.g., property, excise); 2) any city or town regulatory or adjudicatory proceeding such as permits, applications, licensing, zoning, eminent domain or assessment proceedings; 3) civil litigation involving a city, town or municipal agency as a party (but not a lawsuit between two private parties where the city or town is not involved even though that lawsuit is pending in a state court); and 4) decisions about the use of municipal property and funds.

Partner: Any person who joins with any other person(s) formally or informally in a common business venture. The term is not restricted to those who enter into formal partnership agreements. The following criteria are examined to determine if a partnership exists: whether the person shares in the advantages or risks of ownership, contributes to capital or operating expenses, owns a transferable interest in the assets of the entity, or reasonably appears as having a stake in the ownership of the business to an objective third person. In addition, if a group creates the public appearance of a partnership (for example, by using joint stationery, business cards, and business listings), the group will be treated as a partnership even though profits may not be shared.

***Person who has been selected:** any person who has been nominated or appointed to be a municipal employee or has been officially informed that he will be so nominated or appointed.